C.S.E.A.

HELENDALE SCHOOL DISTRICT

Helendale Chapter #507

7/01/2020 - 6/30/2023 Contract

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		Page				
ARTICLE 1	RECOGNITION	3				
ARTICLE 2	DISTRICT RIGHTS	3-4				
ARTILCE 3	ASSOCIATION RIGHTS	4-9				
ARTICLE 4	BARGAINING UNIT MEMBER RIGHTS	9-10				
ARTICLE 5	HOURS, OVERTIME AND EXTRA DUTY	11-12				
ARTICLE 6	TRANSFER AND PROMOTION	12-14				
ARTICLE 7	PAY AND ALLOWANCES	14-16				
ARTICLE 8	LEAVES	16-21				
ARTICLE 9	HEALTH AND WELFARE BENEFITS	21-23				
ARTICLE 10	GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE	23-25				
ARTICLE 11	LAYOFF AND RE-EMPLOYMENT	25-27				
ARTICLE 12	EVALUATION PROCEDURES	27				
ARTICLE 13	DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURES	27-32				
ARTICLE 14	SAFETY	32-33				
ARTICLE 15	SAVINGS	33				
ARTICLE 16	EFFECT OF AGREEMENT					
ARTICLE 17	TERM OF AGREEMENT	33				
APPENDIX	 A: CLASSIFIED BARGAINING UNIT POSITIONS B: CLASSIFIED SALARY SCHEDULE C: CLASSIFIED EMPLOYEE HOLIDAYS D: CLASSIFIED DRESS CODE E: GLOSSARY 	35 37 38 39 40				

ARTICLE 1 - RECOGNITION

- 1.1 <u>Recognition:</u> The District confirms its recognition of the California School Employees Association and its Helendale Chapter #507 (hereinafter "Association") as the exclusive representative for the classified bargaining unit as described herein.
- 1.2 <u>Exclusions:</u> Specifically excluded are all management, confidential and certificated employees.
- 1.3 <u>Inclusions:</u> All other classified positions not specifically excluded in section 1.2 above shall be included in the bargaining unit. See appendix A.
- 1.4 <u>New Classifications:</u> The District agrees that if subsequent to this Agreement it plans to create any new classification, it shall notify the Association of its plans, describe the classification(s), including the proposed job title, job description, salary ranges, and the designation of the classification if included or excluded from the bargaining unit.

ARTICLE 2 - DISTRICT RIGHTS

2.1 Powers and Authorities: It is understood and agreed that the district retains all of its powers and authority to direct, manage, and control to the full extent of the law. Included in, but not limited to those duties and powers are the exclusive rights to: determine its organization; direct the work of its employees; determine the times and hours of operation; determine the kinds and levels of services to be provided and the method and means of providing them; establish its education policies, goals and objectives; insure the rights and educational opportunities of students; determine the staffing patterns; determine the number and kinds of personnel required; maintain the efficiency of District operations; determine the curriculum; build, move or modify facilities; establish budgetary procedures and determine budgetary allocations; determine the methods of raising revenue; enforce Dress Code policy (Appendix D) and take action on any matter in the event of an emergency. In addition, the district retains the right to hire, classify, assign, evaluate, promote, demote, suspend, terminate and discipline employees. The exercise of the foregoing powers, rights, authority, duties and responsibilities by the district, the adoption of policies, rules, regulations and practices in furtherance thereof, and the use of judgment and direction in connection therewith shall be limited by the specific and express terms of this Agreement, and then to the extent such specific and express terms are in conformance with law and current Association contract.

Addendum: Failure of the District to insist upon strict compliance or performance of any of the terms and conditions of this Agreement shall not be deemed as a waiver of any rights or remedies the District may have for any subsequent breach of such terms and conditions

- 2.2 <u>Emergency:</u> The District retains its right to rescind policies and practices referred to in this Agreement in cases of emergency. The determination of whether or not an emergency exists is solely within the discretion of the Board of Trustees, in accordance with terms and conditions contained herein. An emergency shall be defined as an incident or condition over which the District has no control.
- 2.3 <u>Use of Volunteers:</u> The District retains the right to use volunteers in compliance with the requirements of the law to the extent that such practice does not cause layoff or reduction in hours of employment of unit members.

ARTICLE 3 - ASSOCIATION RIGHTS

- 3.1 <u>Right of Access:</u> Authorized Association representatives shall have the right of access to areas in which bargaining unit members work at reasonable times for the purpose of contacting bargaining unit members and transacting Association business, provided such business or activity does not interfere with the school programs and/or duties of bargaining unit members and other district employees. Upon arriving at a work site, any such representative shall first report to the office of the appropriate management person to announce his/her presence and state the approximate length of his/her visit and the bargaining unit members he/she intends to contact.
- 3.2 <u>Use of District Facilities:</u> The Association shall have the right to use without charge: institutional bulletin boards; mail boxes and the school mail system; District phones (excluding toll calls); copy machines; computers; institutional facilities and buildings. Such use shall not impair or interfere with the operation of the District nor shall the District bear any costs in connection therewith. Requests for the use of facilities shall be submitted on the regular District form provided for such use.
- 3.3 <u>Bargaining Unit Information:</u> The District shall furnish the Association with one (1) copy of all official Board packets excluding confidential information.
- 3.4 <u>Distribution of Contract:</u> Forty-five (45) days after this contract is ratified, the District shall provide to each bargaining unit member a copy of this Agreement.
- 3.5 <u>Postings, Agenda and Notices:</u> A copy of all Governing Board meeting agenda(s) and all job opening notices shall be sent to the Association President; such agendas and notices shall be posted at work locations agreed to by the Association and the District.
- 3.6 New Employee Orientation New employee orientation means the onboarding process of newly hired public employee, whether in person, online, or through other means or mediums, in which employees are advised of their employment status, rights, benefits, duties and responsibilities, or any other employment-related matters.

- 3.6.1 District Notice to CSEA of New Hires Notification of monthly hires shall be provided through the Classified Personnel Report included in Board Meeting agendas that are provided to the CSEA President for each Board meeting. In the event no one is hired in any particular month, the District shall send an email to CSEA confirming they did not hire any new staff that month.
- 3.6.2 Employee Information:
 - a) "Newly hired employee" or "new hire" means any employee, whether permanent, full time, part time, hired by the District, and who is still employed as of the date of new employee orientation. It also includes all employees who are or have been previously employed by the District and whose current position has been placed in the bargaining unit represented by CSEA. For those latter employees, for purposes of this article only, the "date of hire" is the date upon which the employee's employee status changed such that the employee was placed in the CSEA unit.
 - b) The District shall provide CSEA with contact information on the new hires. The information shall be provided to CSEA electronically via e-mail, within thirty (30) days of the date of hire or by the first pay period of the month following hire. This contact information shall include the following items, with each field in its own column:
 - i. First Name;
 - ii. Middle initial;
 - iii. Last name;
 - iv. Suffix (e.g. Jr., III);
 - v. Job title;
 - vi. Department;
 - vii. Primary worksite name;
 - viii. Work telephone number;
 - ix. Work telephone extension;
 - x. Home street address (incl. apartment #);
 - xi. City
 - xii. State
 - xiii. Zip Code (5 or 9 digits)
 - xiv. Home telephone number (10 digits)
 - xv. Personal cellular telephone number (10 digits)
 - xvi. Personal e-mail address of the employee;
 - xvii. Birth date;
 - xviii. Employee ID;
 - xix. CalPERS status ("Y" if in CalPERS; "N" if not in CalPERS);
 - xx. Hire date

This information shall be provided to CSEA regardless of whether the newly hired employee was previously employed by the District.

- c) Periodic Update of Contact Information: The District shall provide CSEA with a list of all bargaining unit member's names and contact information on the last working day of September, January, and May. The information will be provided to CSEA electronically via e-mail. This contact information shall also include the following information, with each field listed in its own column:
 - i. First Name;
 - ii. Middle initial;
 - iii. Last name;
 - iv. Suffix (e.g. Jr., III);
 - v. Job title;
 - vi. Department;
 - vii. Primary worksite name;
 - viii. Work telephone number;
 - ix. Work telephone extension;
 - x. Home street address (incl. apartment #);
 - xi. City
 - xii. State
 - xiii. Zip Code (5 or 9 digits)
 - xiv. Home telephone number (10 digits)
 - xv. Personal cellular telephone number (10 digits)
 - xvi. Personal e-mail address of the employee;
 - xvii. Birth date;
 - xviii. Employee ID;
 - xix. CalPERS status ("Y" if in CalPERS; "N" if not in CalPERS);
 - xx. Hire date
- 3.6.3 New Employee Orientation
 - a) The District shall provide CSEA mandatory access to its new employee orientations. CSEA shall receive not less than ten (10) days' notice in advance for an orientation except that a shorter notice may be provided in a specific instance where there is an urgent need critical to the District's operations that was not reasonably foreseeable.
 - i. In the event the District conducts a group orientation, CSEA shall have one (1) hour of paid release time for one (1) CSEA representative, which includes the Chapter President or designee, to conduct CSEA's portion of the orientation session. Said release time shall not be counted against the total release time contained elsewhere in the collective bargaining agreement.

- ii. In the event the District conducts one-on-one orientations with new employees, CSEA shall have thirty (30) minutes of paid release time for one (1) CSEA representative to conduct CSEA's portion of the orientation session. Said release time shall not be counted against the total release time contained elsewhere in the collective bargaining agreement.
- All newly hired bargaining unit members within thirty (30) calendar days from their date of hire shall also receive from the District a "New Employee Packet" which shall contain the following:
 - Copy of this agreement
 - Insurance Booklet
 - Bargaining Unit Member's Job Description
 - Notice of Assignment, which shall include:
 - a) Employees Names
 - b) School Year
 - c) Immediate Supervisors Name
 - d) Interim Supervisors Name
 - e) Evaluator's Name
 - f) Number of Contract Days
 - g) Class
 - h) Step
 - i) Salary Hourly and Monthly
 - j) Anniversary Date
 - School Calendar
 - CSEA provided membership packet with the link to the electronic application
- c) The orientation session shall be held on District property and new hire employees will be paid in accordance with Article XIV "Trainings" of this CBA as compensation for attending the orientation session.
- 3.6.4 Violations

Any alleged violation, misinterpretation, or misapplication of the terms of this Article shall be subject to the grievance provisions of Article X.

3.7 <u>Seniority Lists:</u> On an annual basis the District shall make available to the Association a seniority list of all bargaining unit members. Such list shall be complete up to and including August 31st of the current year. Seniority lists shall include, in addition to the bargaining unit member's name and seniority, the employee's current classification and job site.

- 3.8 The Association President or his/her designee shall be provided release time during the fiscal year to be utilized for Association business. Meetings with the District involving the representation of bargaining members in labor-management issues such as negotiations are at the expense of the District and shall not be deducted from the Association business release time allotment of eighty (80) hours per fiscal year at no loss of pay or benefits. An additional five (5) days at no loss of pay or other benefits to attend CSEA conferences for the duration of the agreement. Total yearly utilization of release days will be reported to the superintendent no later than June 30 each year.
- 3.9 <u>Organizational Security</u>: CSEA shall have the sole and exclusive right to have membership dues deducted for Bargaining Unit Members. The District shall deduct, in accordance with the CSEA dues schedule, from the wages of all employees who are members of CSEA, after receiving notification from the Association.

3.9.1 Prohibition of Interference:

The District shall not interfere with the terms of any agreement between CSEA and the District's employee with regard to that employee's membership in CSEA, including but not limited to automatic renewal yearly unless the worker drops out during a specified window period defined by CSEA. It shall be the individuals' responsibility to contact CSEA for the specified window period information. The District need not keep track of this period which shall be tracked by CSEA within its membership database.

3.9.1.1 Managers, supervisors and confidential employees shall not instruct employees on the process to leave CSEA, but instead only simply refer any questions to the CSEA Labor Relations Representative and shall obtain his/her approval on behalf of the union before processing any revocation request.

3.9.2 Membership Information

3.9.2.1 The District shall take all reasonable steps to safeguard the privacy of CSEA members' personal information, including, but not limited to members' social security numbers, personal addresses, personal phone number, personal cellular phone number, and status as a union member.

3.9.2.2 The District may respond to all Public Records Request Act from outsiders for the following information: first name, last name, work email addresses, job title/position type and simple name or acronym of the bargaining unit.

3.9.2.3 The District shall use its best efforts to filter out outsiders' emails to work email addresses soliciting against union membership. District shall only post on the public portion of its website work e-mail addresses for employees who the public needs to contact.

3.10 District shall refer all employee questions regarding CSEA or dues over the CSEAChapter President or Labor Relations Representative. CSEA shall defend and indemnify District for any claims arising from its compliance with this clause.

CSEA shall have the exclusive right to decide and determine whether any such action shall be compromised, resisted, defended, tried, or appealed.

3.11 The Association and CSEA agree to indemnify and hold harmless the District against any and all liabilities, claims or actions which may be brought against said District or the District Board of Trustees individually or collectively, its officers, employees and agents, including reimbursement for all cost, expenses, fees and judgments incurred by the District in providing an effective defense against all lawsuits or other legal proceedings, arising out of and in connection with this article.

ARTICLE 4 - BARGAINING UNIT MEMBER RIGHTS

- 4.1 <u>Personnel Files:</u> Bargaining unit members shall have a personnel file which shall be confidential to the full extent required by law. Inquiries concerning personnel files by any district employees shall be directed to the Superintendent or his/her designee. The following conditions shall apply to personnel files:
 - 4.1.1 <u>Rights to Inspect:</u> Materials in personnel files of unit members which may serve as a basis for affecting the status of their employment are to be made available for the inspection of the person involved. Such material is not to include ratings, reports, or records which:
 - a) were obtained prior to employment of the person involved;
 - b) were prepared by an identifiable examination committee;
 - c) were obtained in connection with a promotional exam.
 - 4.1.2 Unit members shall have the right to inspect such material upon request, provided that the request is made at a time when such person is not actually required to render services to the District.
- 4.2 <u>Derogatory Information:</u> Information of a derogatory nature shall not be entered or filed unless the affected bargaining unit member is given ten (10) working days notice in writing of such material being filed. A bargaining unit member shall have the right to enter, and have attached to any such derogatory statement, his own comments thereon. Review and response of derogatory material shall take place during normal business hours, and the bargaining unit member shall be released from duty for a period of not more than one hour for the purpose of

shall be released from duty for a period of not more than one hour for the purpose or reviewing and responding without any loss of salary or benefits.

- 4.3 Any material of a derogatory nature contained in a personnel file shall be signed by the preparer and the employee in question. If the employee refuses to sign the document his or her refusal shall be noted on the document. In the event material of a derogatory nature is found, upon inspection of a personnel file, which has not been signed by the employee or does not include a notation that the employee refused to sign the material, then the material shall be removed from the file immediately.
- 4.4 <u>Right to Photocopies:</u> Photocopies of the bargaining unit member's personnel file shall be made available to the bargaining unit member, or his/her designee, upon written request at a rate of ten cents (\$.10) per copy.
- 4.5 <u>Signing and Dating Materials</u>: Any and all materials placed into the bargaining unit member's personnel files by a supervisor shall be signed and dated by the supervisor entering such material.

ARTICLE 5 - HOURS, OVERTIME AND EXTRA DUTY

- 5.1 <u>Hours:</u> A regular work week for a full-time member shall be forty (40) hours, five (5) consecutive days, and a regular work day shall be eight (8) hours exclusive of lunch unless otherwise agreed between the parties. This article shall not restrict the extension of the regular work day or work week on an overtime basis when necessary to carry on the business of the District.
- 5.2 <u>Overtime:</u> The District shall provide compensation or, at its discretion, compensatory time off, at a rate equal to one and one half (1-1 1/2) times the regular rate of pay. Overtime is any time required to be worked in excess of eight (8) hours in any one (1) work day or any time in excess of forty (40) hours in any work week. Any time in paid status shall be considered time worked for the purposes of computing over-time.
 - 5.2.1 <u>Extra Duty:</u> When an employee is asked to work additional time by their supervisor, the employee notifies the supervisor of the desired form of compensation between comp-time or regular salary (as described in section 5.2 above). When the employee proposes working additional time, the supervisor shall determine the means of compensation between comp time and salary and notify the employee of that means prior to agreement and final approval.
 - 5.2.2 <u>Staff Meetings:</u> All employees shall attend one (1) paid hour per semester as designated by the principal by the last day in August of each school year. Two (2) hours of strategic planning and six (6) hours of relevant training shall also be planned through the year that can include but are not limited to those listed in article 14.5.1.
- 5.3 <u>Overtime Distribution:</u> The designation and authorization of overtime shall be determined by the District. The assignment, when administratively practicable, shall be rotated among those unit members who are qualified and capable of performing the required work.

5.4 <u>Lunch Break:</u> All unit members who are on duty for four (4) consecutive hours shall be assigned an uninterrupted lunch period. The length of time for lunch shall be no longer than one (1) hour nor less than thirty (30) minutes and, when feasible, shall be scheduled at or about the mid-point of each work shift or a mutually agreed upon time to be scheduled by their immediate supervisor.

5.4.1 <u>Rest Period</u>: All bargaining unit members assigned to work 3.5 to 4 consecutive hours per day shall be entitled to a paid ten (10) minute rest period per day to be taken as close to the midpoint of his/her shift as feasible or mutually agreed upon time to be scheduled by their immediate supervisor.

Bargaining unit members working more than four (4) consecutive hours

per day shall be entitled to a paid fifteen (15) minute rest period for each consecutive four (4) hour work period. The rest period shall be assigned by the immediate supervisor at or near the midpoint of each four (4) hour period or mutually agreed upon time.

Rest periods may not be combined to shorten workdays, change starting or ending times or to extend lunch breaks.

- 5.5 <u>Call-Back Guarantee:</u> Bargaining unit member called back to work outside their regularly scheduled work day shall receive a minimum of two (2) hours overtime compensation.
- 5.6 <u>Pay and Allowances:</u> When an employee is required to work out of classification they shall have their salary adjusted upward as provided in Section 45110 of the Education Code. (Required to work out of classification for 5 days)
- 5.7 <u>Starting and Ending Times:</u> The District retains the right to make changes in the starting/ending times of a unit member's assignment by seniority, by site, so long as such changes are not of more than one hour and do not decrease a unit member's hours of employment. If it is mutually agreed between the employee and their supervisor, the change in hours may occur if it is more than one hour. Such changes shall not be made in an arbitrary or capricious manner. The District shall give due consideration to the legitimate needs of the employee before making any such changes. Bargaining unit members may be allowed, with pre-approval of their supervisor and the concurrence of CSEA, to temporarily adjust the hours of their workday, as long as the hours are reconciled by the end of each work week; provided however, reconciling hours may not result in a conflict with state and/or federal laws relating to the payment of overtime.
- 5.8 <u>Special Education Drivers</u>' daily hours are determined by the needs of the student assigned to be transported. (Drivers are not guaranteed hours of employment during periods of time when school is not in session, or extended periods of absence of assigned student(s)). The District will guarantee each special education driver the normal time required to transport their assigned students. Drivers are

guaranteed their normal time when transporting at least one of their assigned students. If there are no students to drive and the driver is notified at least four (4) hours ahead of the time, they are guaranteed one (1) hour of time, or they may elect to not work, in which case, they will not be paid. If they do not receive a minimum of four (4) hours notification they are guaranteed their normal driving time performing minor maintenance and cleaning of their vehicle.

ARTICLE 6 TRANSFER AND PROMOTION

- 6.1 <u>Posting of Notices:</u> Notices of all job vacancies within the bargaining unit shall be posted on bulletin boards in prominent locations at each District work site.
- 6.2 <u>Posting Period:</u> The job vacancy notice shall be posted in house for a period of three (3) full working days during which time only permanent bargaining unit members may file for the vacancy by a written notice to the superintendent or his/her designee. Any bargaining unit member who will be on break, leave or layoff during the period of the posting shall be emailed on the date the position is posted. If there are no qualified candidates the posting shall be posted externally. Probationary employees may compete for vacancies however in the event a permanent candidate(s) meets the necessary requirements to advance in the hiring process the permanent employee. The District may maintain an applicant pool of names of employees for the duration of one year for future consideration of withdraw their name when requested.
- 6.3 <u>Posting Contents:</u> The job vacancy notice shall include: the job title, a brief description of the position and duties, the minimum qualifications required for the position, the assigned job site, the number of hours per day, regular assigned work shift times, days per week, and months per year assigned to the position, the salary range, and the deadline for filing to fill the vacancy.
- 6.4 <u>Filing:</u> Any employee in the bargaining unit who has completed his/her initial probationary period of 130 days of paid service with the district, may file for a vacancy by submitting written notice, e-mail followed by a hard copy, or fax to the superintendent or his/her designee within the filing period.
- 6.5 <u>Transfer:</u> A transfer is defined as a lateral movement from one job classification as listed on the Classified Salary Schedule to the same job classification in the same or any other office, site, department including an increase in hours in the same position. Transfers shall be made on a thirty (30) day conditional basis. At any time during the "conditional period" the supervisor, or the unit member can decide to return the bargaining unit member back to his/her previous position.
 - 6.5.1 Involuntary Transfers Involuntary transfers may be implemented by the District if necessary to meet the needs of the District. An involuntary transfer will not be implemented as a punishment measure but

may be utilized in conjunction with a performance improvement program if felt to be essential in alleviating performance problems. Notification and reason for transfer must be submitted in writing to any unit member subject to involuntary transfer. An involuntary transfer of a unit member made during the year shall not result in the loss of compensation, seniority, or fringe benefit for the remainder of the fiscal year. In the event the District identifies a need to adjust staffing ratios at school sites due to changes in student populations or program changes, vacancies shall be filled in accordance with the following process:

6.5.1.1 The District shall provide reasonable notice to CSEA of proposal to transfer Bargaining Unit Member.

6.5.1.2 The District may post positions of the understaffed school sites for voluntary transfers after discussion with CSEA.

6.5.1.3 In the event all positions are not filled through voluntary transfers they may be filled by involuntarily transferring the junior employee in the effected classification at the school site to the vacant position.

6.6 <u>Promotion:</u> The term "promotion" shall mean assigning a bargaining unit member into a position

which has a salary range higher than that of their current assignment. Any employee in the bargaining unit receiving a promotion shall be moved to the appropriate range and step of the new classification that would provide an increase in salary. Promotions may be made within or outside the bargaining unit member's current class. At any time during the "conditional period" the supervisor, or the unit member can decide to return the bargaining unit member back to his/her previous position. A bargaining unit member must meet minimum qualifications as outlined in the job description and pass any required testing in order to be eligible for the vacant position.

- 6.7 <u>Vacant Positions:</u> All internal applicants shall submit their qualifications for a vacant position through EdJoin. All applicants shall be paper screened and tested unless he/she has held the position previously. Only the top candidates shall be eligible for an interview. If the top candidates after interview are a bargaining unit member and an outside candidate who both possess substantially equal qualifications (including abilities, skill, knowledge and qualifications contained in the job description) the candidate who is currently employed by the District shall be assigned to the vacant position on a 30 day conditional period. If the top candidates after interview are two or more bargaining unit members who possess equal abilities, skills, knowledge and qualifications, the most senior candidate shall be placed in the vacancy on a thirty (30) day conditional period.
- 6.8 Voluntary Demotion: Unit members who accept or request a voluntary demotion shall be placed on the salary schedule equivalent to the number of years they have served in the District and placed in the range that is designated for the vacant position.

ARTICLE 7 - PAY AND ALLOWANCES

7.1 <u>Salary:</u> The parties agree to a compensation adjustment of 6.56% (six and 56 hundredths) be added to the 2022-2023 bargaining unit salary schedule identified as Appendix A of the collective bargaining agreement and shall be effective July 1, 2022. This increase t salary shall not be misconstrued as any additional offer outside of what is approved by the Board of Trustees for the 2022-23 school year.

7.2 <u>Longevity:</u> Bargaining Unit Members shall receive longevity increments according to sub sections 7.2.1through 7.2.4. Such increments shall be based on the Bargaining UnitMember's date of hire with the district. Bargaining Unit Members hired on the first through the fifteenth of the month shall receive the applicable increment on the payroll of the next month following completion of the required year of service. Members hired on the sixteenth through the last day of the month shall receive the applicable increment on the payroll of the second month following completion of the required year of service. The regular rate of pay shall reflect longevity increments as provided herein:

- 7.2.1 Bargaining Unit Members who have completed nine (9) years of service shall receive (approximately 4%) increased over base salary, effective as described in above
- 7.2.2 Bargaining Unit Members who have completed fifteen fourteen (14) years of service shall receive (approximately 5%) increase over base salary, effective as described in 7.2 above
- 7.2.3 Bargaining Unit Members who have completed nineteen (19) years of service shall receive (approximately 7%) increase over base salary, effective as described in 7.2 above
- 7.2.4 Bargaining Unit Members who have completed twenty-four (24) years of service shall receive (approximately 10%) increase over base salary, effective as described in 7.2 above.
- 7.3 <u>Paychecks:</u> All regular paychecks of bargaining unit members shall be itemized as performed by San Bernardino County Schools Office. Such itemizations shall include, but not be limited to, vacation and sick leave, accrual may be one (1) month in arrears.
- 7.4 <u>Frequency Once Monthly:</u> All bargaining unit members shall be paid once per month payable as soon as received by the supervisors, but no later than the end of the last working day of the month. If the normal pay date falls on a holiday, the paycheck shall be issued on the preceding workday; if the normal pay date falls on a Saturday or Sunday, the paycheck shall be issued on the last working day preceding the normal pay date.
- 7.5 <u>Payment Option:</u> Bargaining unit members working less than twelve (12) months per year shall have the option of being paid in either ten (10) or twelve (12) equal payments per year. All bargaining unit members may elect to have their paychecks deposited in their bank via electronic fund transfer.
- 7.6 <u>Payroll Errors:</u> Whenever it is determined that an error has been made in the calculation or reporting in any bargaining unit member payroll or in the payment of any bargaining unit members salary, the district shall, within (5) five workdays following such determination, provide the employee with a statement of the correction and a supplemental payment drawn against any available funds. Should any payroll error result in an overpayment to a unit member, the District shall meet with the unit member and work out a repayment schedule agreeable to both parties.
- 7.7 <u>Tools:</u> Bargaining unit members shall not be required to furnish any tools or equipment in the course of their employment unless otherwise agreed to between the District and the Association.
- 7.8 <u>Safety Equipment:</u> The District agrees to make every reasonable effort to provide appropriate safety equipment and the bargaining unit member shall be required to utilize

all necessary equipment furnished and the unit member and the district shall abide by the safety rules and regulations of CAL-OSHA.

7.9 <u>Uniforms:</u> New employees assigned as Maintenance/Groundskeeper and Maintenance Technician will have five (5) uniforms ordered by the District within two (2) weeks of the employee's initial start date. The intent is to prevent bargaining unit members' personal clothing from being damaged while working,

At no time will the District be responsible for laundering of those uniforms under this Article, including but not limited to those identified within section 7.9.1. However, in the event that a unit members uniform is damaged or becomes worn the District will provide up to two (2) replacements annually. Employees provided uniforms are expected to wear them while on duty and may be subject to discipline if not in uniform.

Safety Shoes: Bargaining unit members listed below who are exposed through the course of their employment to the possibility of foot injury, or that may come in contact with contaminants and/or other substances that may cause safety concerns such as slip and falls etc. shall be required to wear safety shoes which meet California Occupational Safety and Health Act Regulations. This provision shall apply specifically to the following classifications:

- Maintenance/Groundskeeper and Maintenance Technician Not to exceed \$200
- Custodiam I/Lead Custodian/Cafeteria Worker I & II Not to exceed \$75 (nonslip).

On an annual basis, the District shall reimburse unit members for the purchase of Safety shoes. Employees will be reimbursed at the above rate when a completed Safety Shoe Reimbursement Form and a detailed proof of purchase is provided and submitted to the Business Office.

7.9.2 In order to be identifiable to all stakeholders so that safety and security are provided at all times, Campus Monitors and Crossing Guards will be provided five (5) shirts in August of each school year that they must wear during duty hours (vests will be made available at the school site to be worn over personal outerwear during cooler weather).

ARTICLE 8 – LEAVES

- 8.1 <u>Bereavement Leave:</u> Employees shall be granted a leave, with full pay, in the event of the death of the employee's immediate family as enumerated. The leave shall be for five (5) days if death of immediate family member occurs.
 - 8.1.1 <u>Definition of Immediate Family:</u> Member of the immediate family means mother, father, mother-in-law, father-in-law, grandmothers, grandfathers, grandchildren of the employee or of the spouse of the employee, spouse, son, son-in-law, daughter, daughter-in-law, brother, sister of the employee, step-parent, step-child,

brother or sister in-law, aunt, uncle, domestic partner, niece, nephew or any relative or significant other living in the immediate household of the employee. Documentation may be required on a case by case basis.

- 8.2 <u>Sick Leave:</u> Bargaining unit members shall receive sick leave at the rate of one day per month. Leave herein shall be cumulative from year to year.
 - 8.2.1 <u>Proration of Part-Time Employees:</u> Bargaining Unit Members who work less than eight (8) hours per day shall be entitled to the proportional amount of sick leave as the number of hours worked per day bears to eight (8).
 - 8.2.2 <u>Notification of Absence:</u> Notification of absence must be made to the Bargaining Unit Member's supervisor or designee no less than two (2) hours prior to the Bargaining Unit Member's starting time. In cases other than illness or emergency, Bargaining Unit Members must report a need for absence three (3) days in advance and failure to follow this process allows the district to deny the absence request. A person who becomes ill during the work shift or who must leave the work site without prior authorization shall contact the immediate supervisor or site administrator.
 - 8.2.3 <u>Notification of Return:</u> A Bargaining Unit Member on sick leave must, notify his/her immediate supervisor prior to the end of the unit member's normal work assignment of his/her intent to return to work. If no contact is made, and a substitute is acquired, the Bargaining Unit Member will remain on sick leave until such time notification is made.
 - 8.2.4 <u>Leave Verification:</u> When a Bargaining Unit Members is on sick leave due to illness or injury for a period of three (3) or more consecutive work days, the District may, for legitimate District reasons and upon written request, require the Bargaining Unit Member to present a doctor's certificate verifying the personal illness or injury, and/or, an authorization to return to work.

- 8.2.5 <u>Weekly Notification:</u> After a period of six (6) consecutive days of absence due to illness or injury, the Bargaining Unit Member shall notify the District on a weekly basis of his/her condition and of the estimated date of return.
- 8.2.6 <u>Pay for Leave</u>: Pay for any day of such absence shall be the same as the pay which would have been received had the employee served during the day of illness or in any absence.
- 8.2.7 <u>Credit for Sick Leave:</u> At the beginning of each fiscal year, the full amount of sick leave granted under this Agreement shall be credited to each employee. Credit for sick leave need not be accrued prior to taking such leave, and sick leave may be taken at any time during the year. Upon termination of an employee, the District shall collect for sick leave that has been taken by the employee, but has not been earned by the rendering of service.
- 8.2.8 <u>Unused Sick Leave:</u> Any sick leave benefits earned but unused at the date of retirement, shall be converted to retirement credit in accordance with Government Code Section 20862.5, or its successor.
- 8.3 <u>Industrial Accident Leave:</u> In addition to any other benefits that a Bargaining Unit Member may be entitle to under the Worker's Compensation laws of this state, Bargaining Unit Members shall be entitle to the following benefits:
 - 8.3.1 <u>Sixty Day Leave:</u> A Bargaining Unit Member shall be entitled up to a maximum of sixty (60) days or paid leave of absence in any one fiscal year as a result of the same industrial accident or industrial illness. This leave shall not be accumulated from year to year, and when said leave shall overlap a fiscal year, the employee shall be entitled to only that amount of the sixty (60) days remaining at the end of the fiscal year, for same injury in the next fiscal year.
 - 8.3.2 <u>Coordination of Payments:</u> The total of the Bargaining Unit Member's temporary disability indemnity and the portion of salary due him/her during the absence shall equal his/her full salary.
 - 8.3.3 <u>Return to Work:</u> The Bargaining Unit Member shall be deemed to have recovered from an industrial accident or industrial illness and thereby able to return to regular duties at such time as the Bargaining Unit Member's physician so indicated in writing and when that written statement is accepted by Worker's Compensation.
 - 8.3.4 <u>Definition:</u> An industrial accident or industrial illness as used in this Agreement means any injury or illness whose cause is a result of service for the District.

- 8.3.5 <u>Salary Deductions:</u> For any Bargaining Unit Member who is absent as a result of an industrial accident or industrial illness, the benefits provided in this section are to be utilized prior to and separate from illness leave benefits. The District shall not deduct sick leave for a period not exceed sixty (60) days for any unit member who is absent as a result of an industrial accident or industrial illness.
- 8.4 <u>Extended Sick Leave:</u> When an employee is absent from his/her duties on account of illness or accident for a period of five (5) months or less, whether or not the absence arises out of or in the course of employment of the employee, the amount deducted from the salary due said employee for any month in which the absence occurs, shall not exceed the sum which is actually paid a substitute employee to fill the absent employee's position during absence. The district will notify an employee in writing of the leave allowed by the federal Family Medical Leave Act of 1993 within the first 40 days of extended sick leave. After notification the leave allowed by the federal Family Medical Leave will run concurrently.
 - 8.4.1 After all leave is exhausted an employee must do one of the following: a. return to work
 - b. file a request for paid or unpaid leave of absence to the Board of Trustees
 - c. be placed on a 39 month rehire list
- 8.5 <u>Child Rearing Leave:</u> Upon request, the District may provide a Bargaining Unit Member, who is a natural or adopting parent, unpaid leave of absence for the purpose of rearing the Bargaining Unit Member's infant, as provided herein below:
 - 8.5.1 <u>Length of Leave:</u> Leave provided herein shall not exceed one (1) year, but may be less than one (1) year, and shall be subject to the provisions in section 8.8 herein.
 - 8.5.2 <u>Notification:</u> The Bargaining Unit Member shall notify the District requesting such leave at least four (4) weeks prior to the anticipated date on which the leave is to commence.
 - 8.5.3 <u>Marital Status:</u> A Bargaining Unit Member shall not have to be married to qualify for benefits provided by this section.
 - 8.5.4 <u>Insurance Coverage:</u> Any Bargaining Unit Member who has been granted a child rearing leave may participate in the District insurance programs provided he/she pay, on a monthly basis, the cost of the premiums for such insurance.
 - 8.5.5 <u>Returning From Leave:</u> Each Bargaining Unit Member shall be returned to the same position or equivalent held prior to the child rearing leave. The Bargaining Unit Member will notify the District four (4) weeks prior to return from leave.
- 8.6 <u>Personal Necessity Leave:</u> A Bargaining Unit Member may elect to use sick leave, not to exceed seven (7) days per fiscal year, for personal necessity for any of the following:

- a. The death or illness of a member of the Bargaining Unit Member's immediate family.
- b. As a result of an accident involving a Bargaining Unit Member's person or property or the person or property of his/her immediate family.
- c. When resulting from an appearance in any court or before any administrative tribunal as a litigant party, or witness under subpoena or any other order made with jurisdiction, except as provided.

Two (2) of the seven (7) personal necessity days may also be taken without prior approval from the District, provided all the following conditions are met:

- a. The Bargaining Unit Member must give the District Office at least three (3) working days notice prior to the leave day.
- b. The reason for such leave must relate to important personal business which cannot be attended to during non-duty hours.
- c. No more than two (2) unit members may be absent on such leave during any one (1) duty day.
- 8.7 <u>Paid and Unpaid Leaves:</u> A Bargaining Unit Member may request a paid or unpaid leave of absence for a maximum of one (1) year, subject to District approval, except for military leave as provided for in this agreement and Education Code.
 - 8.7.1 <u>Return From Unpaid Leave:</u> A Bargaining Unit Member returning to work from an unpaid leave shall be reinstated to the position or equivalent from which he/she held prior to the leave and without any loss of salary and benefits. A request by the Bargaining Unit Member to return to work prior to the expiration of his/her leave, shall be granted within thirty (30) days of the request.
- 8.8 <u>Maternity Leave:</u> The District may provide for unpaid leave of absence from duty for any Bargaining Unit Member who is required to be absent from duties because of their pregnancy, miscarriage, childbirth and recovery therefrom. Unit members who choose to utilize maternity leave shall notify the District in advance (*or as soon as possible in cases of an emergency*) of what available leaves they would like to use (sick leave and/or vacation).
 - 8.8.1 <u>Length of Maternity Leave:</u> The length of leave of absence under this section, including the date on which the leave shall commence and the date on which the Bargaining Unit Member shall resume regular duties, shall be determined by the bargaining Unit Member's physician with notification given to the Superintendent or his/her designee.
 - 8.8.2 <u>Disability:</u> Disabilities caused or contributed by the Bargaining Unit Member's pregnancy, miscarriage, childbirth and recovery there from are temporary disabilities and shall be treated as such under illness leave available in connection with employment by the District.

- 8.8.3 <u>Marital Status:</u> A Bargaining Unit Member shall not have to be married to qualify for benefits provided by this section. Any Bargaining Unit Member shall have the right to utilize illness leave for absences necessitated by pregnancy, miscarriage, childbirth and recovery there from.
- 8.9 <u>Leave of Absence for Jury Duty:</u> Leave of absence for jury service must be granted to any classified employees who have been officially summoned to jury duty in local, State or Federal Court. Leave shall be granted for the period of the jury service. The employee shall receive full pay while on jury duty. The employee must turn into payroll all Jury Service Fees. Any meal, mileage and or parking allowance provided the employee for jury duty shall not be considered in the amount received for jury duty. Request for jury service must be made by presenting the official court summons to jury service to the immediate supervisor. Employees must submit the pink slip to the immediate supervisor, or designee upon completion of jury duty for dates required.
- 8.10 <u>Military Leave:</u> A Bargaining Unit Member shall be entitled to any military leave provided by law and shall retain all rights and privileges granted by law arising out of the exercise of military leave.
- 8.11 <u>Vacation:</u> Vacation days for classified employees who have worked six (6) months or longer are to be calculated as follows:

Service in the District	Number of vacation days accrued
Six months through three years	1 day per month
Four years through five years	1 1/4 days per month
Six years through nine years	1 1/2 days per month
Ten years and over	1 3/4 days per month

- 8.11.1 <u>Vacation Accrual:</u> Vacation days may be accrued to a total not to exceed that which can be earned in a twenty-four (24) consecutive month period. When accrued amount reaches that which can be earned in a twenty-four (24) month period the employee will be paid back to the level they could have earned at the end of eighteen (18) consecutive months. The Bargaining Unit Member shall be paid at his/her current salary, via a separate pay warrant. Requests for pay-out of accrued vacation prior to June 30 will only be allowed one time per year.
- 8.12 <u>Holidays:</u> The official District holidays are set forth in Appendix C.
- 8.12.1 When a holiday falls during the scheduled vacation of any Bargaining Unit Member, such unit member shall be paid for each holiday falling within that period and such holidays shall not be charged against vacation leave. When a holiday falls on a Saturday, the previous Friday shall be deemed that holiday. When a holiday falls on a Sunday, the following Monday shall be deemed that holiday.

8.13 <u>During Duration of Leaves:</u> Bargaining unit members who are on any form of leave are prohibited from being on District property during school hours unless they receive written approval from the Superintendent or his/her designee; the intent is to assure the safety and operational efficiency for the students, staff and the bargaining unit member and not to restrict access for the care of a child or in their child's participation in school activities.

ARTICLE 9 - HEALTH AND WELFARE BENEFITS

- 9.1 <u>Medical, Dental, Vision and Life Insurance:</u> Effective July 1, 2022 the District's maximum contribution shall be \$19,000 or equal to the District contribution to the Certificated Bargaining Unit following certificated negotiations but not less than \$19,000. Medical insurance, dental insurance, vision insurance and life insurance will be given to all Bargaining Unit Members who are employed for more than six (6) hours per day. The following modifications California Valued Trust (CVT) multi-plan designs:
 - a. Employee/Family Medical Insurance
 - b. Employee/Family Dental Insurance (Delta Dental)
 - c. Employee/Family Vision Insurance Vision Service Plan
 - d. Life Insurance (**\$50,000.00**)

As long as the District's ending balance is 19% at second interim, the difference between the CAP and the cost of benefits shall be paid to the employee at the end of the school year. The difference will be paid to the employee on a supplemental payroll before the end of June of the current school year.

9.2 The district and association will participate in a Health and Welfare benefits committee made up of at least one association appointed committee member from each site.

Addendum - The District agrees that it will notify CSEA at least 60 days prior to any anticipated future increases in health and welfare benefit costs so that negotiations can be completed prior to the implementation of any increase.

9.3 <u>Retirement:</u> The terms of retirement are:

- A Bargaining Unit Member must show proof of retirement through PERS prior to receiving Retirement Incentive.
- A classified member can switch to the Certificated Bargaining unit without losing years of service credit in relation to the retirement incentive of the Certificated Bargaining Unit.
- Bargaining unit member has 20 or more consecutive years of service in the Helendale School District.
- Bargaining unit member is 55 years of age or older and there is no age requirement if retirement is due to a certified disability.

- Bargaining unit member will receive a one-time payment of \$750 per full year of service in the Helendale School District. In the event that more than 10% of the bargaining unit notifies the District in a timely manner for this retirement incentive the parties agree to bargain payment options to mitigate any potential hardship on the District if requested by the District.
- Bargaining unit member must notify the District of intent to retire at least 60 days before the official date of retirement. Bargaining Unit Member shall receive retirement incentive compensation at the end of the next school year that follows their retirement.
- Bargaining unit member retiring shall not be eligible for any regular classified position within the Helendale School District.

ARTICLE 10 – GRIEVANCE PROCEDURE

10.1 <u>Definitions:</u> The following definitions shall apply to this Article:

10.1.1 <u>Grievance</u>: A "Grievance" is a formal written allegation by a grievant that a violation of this Agreement has occurred.

10.1.2 <u>Grievant:</u> A "Grievant" may be any Bargaining Unit Member or the Association who alleges a violation of this Agreement.

10.1.3 <u>Day:</u> A "Day" is any day in which the District Central Office is open for business.

10.1.4 <u>Immediate Supervisor</u>: The "Immediate Supervisor" is the lowest level supervisor having immediate jurisdiction over the grievant, or, in the case of the Association being the grievant, the lowest level Administrator having authority to adjust the grievance.

10.1.5 <u>Association Representative</u>: The "Association Representative" may be any member of the Association or the Association Field Staff Personnel, so designated by the Association to process grievances.

- 10.2 The failure of the grievant or the grievant's representative to act within the prescribed time limit stated in this article will act as a bar to any further appeal. The failure of the District or its agent to give a decision within the time limits shall permit the grievant to proceed to the next step.
- 10.3 Hearings and conferences under this procedure shall be conducted at a time and place which will afford an opportunity for all persons entitled to be present to attend and will be held, insofar as possible, during regular working hours, but at times that are as least disruptive as possible to the instructional program. When such hearing and conferences are held at the request of the District during the regular workday, all unit members whose presence is required shall be released without loss of pay for those hours they are required to attend such hearing or

conference. The District will not release without loss of pay more than one ` representative per grievance.

10.4 <u>Informal Level:</u> Before filing a formal written grievance, the grievant shall attempt to resolve it by an informal conference with the immediate supervisor.

10.5 Formal Level:

10.5.1 <u>Level One:</u> Within fifteen (15) days after the occurrence of the act or omission giving rise to the grievance, the grievant must present the grievance in writing on the appropriate form to the immediate supervisor. This statement shall be a clear, concise statement of the grievance, the circumstances involved, the decision rendered at the informal conference, and the specific remedy sought.

The immediate supervisor shall communicate his decision to the employee in writing within ten (10) days after receiving the grievance. If the immediate supervisor does not respond within the time limits, the grievant may proceed to Level Two (10.4.2) of this Article.

10.5.2 <u>Level Two:</u> If the grievant is not satisfied with the written decision at Level One, or the lack thereof, the grievant may with ten (10) days appeal the decision on the appropriate form and send it to the Superintendent or designee.

This level shall include a copy of the original grievance and the decisions rendered at level one, and a clear, concise statement of the reasons for the appeal.

The Superintendent or designee shall communicate his/her decision to the grievant within ten (10) days. If the Superintendent or designee does not respond within the time limits, the grievant may proceed to Level Three of this Article.

10.5.3 <u>Level Three:</u> Within ten (10) days after receipt of the Level Two response, the association may submit the matter to mediation. Upon receipt of the request, the Association shall submit to the California State Conciliation Service a written request for the services of a state mediator.

The function of the Mediator shall be to assist the parties to achieve a mutually satisfactory resolution to the grievance. The Mediator shall schedule a mutually agreeable time for the purpose of resolving the matter.

If a satisfactory resolution is achieved, both parties to the grievance shall sign a written agreement and thus waive the right of either to further appeal the grievance.

The mediation step may be waived by mutual consent of the parties. If no agreement to settling the grievance is reached within ten (10) days following the first meeting with the Mediator the grievance may be appealed to Level Four.

The terms of offers, statements or discussions made during mediation may not be used in subsequent steps.

10.5.4 <u>Level Four:</u> If the Association has not requested the Level Three Mediation process and/or the grievance remains unresolved, the grievant may file a written appeal to the Governing Board. All information presented at Level One and Level Two shall be included with the appeal. An appeal hearing shall be held at the next regularly scheduled Board meeting which falls at least twelve (12) days after the appeal is filed. This hearing shall be held in closed session if the grievance relates to matters properly addressed in closed session. The Board shall make its decision within thirty (30) days of the hearing and shall mail the decision to all concerned parties. The Board's decision shall be final and shall be deemed to have exhausted all administrative remedies.

10.6 <u>Association Rights</u>: In addition to the rights given a grievant under this section, the Association shall be afforded the following additional rights:

10.6.1 <u>Release Time:</u> The Association shall be given reasonable time for Bargaining Unit Members(s) designated as "Association Representative" to investigate grievances during normal working hours provided however that said grievance investigation shall not disrupt the operation of the District.

10.6.2 <u>Filing Grievances</u>: Only those designated as "Association Representative(s)" may file a grievance on behalf to the Association.

10.6.3 <u>Documents:</u> If the Association is not a party in a grievance proceeding, the District shall provide a copy of all grievances submitted and responses thereto, and shall further provide a statement of settlement reached, if any, between the District and Grievant. Such settlement shall have no precedent.

10.6.4 <u>Determination to Proceed</u>: The Association retains the right to determine if a grievance filed under this Agreement shall proceed to Level Three (3) of the grievance procedure.

ARTICLE 11 - LAYOFF AND RE-EMPLOYMENT

11.1 <u>Negotiability:</u> The Association retains the right, in the event of an actual or proposed layoff, to negotiate those items which lawfully can be negotiated pursuant to applicable laws. Nothing herein shall preclude the Association from negotiating benefits which may provide more than is provided by this Article in the event of a layoff. In case of a reduction of hours the District and the Association shall meet prior to the date the notices are sent and negotiate the decision and the effects of the layoff as provided in Section 3543.2 of the Education Employment Relations Act. In case of abolishment of a bargaining unit position the parties shall negotiate the effects of the layoff.

- 11.2 <u>Layoff:</u> The District reserves, retains, and is vested with the right to lay off employees for any reason allowed by law. In the exercise of this right, the District makes the determination as to the positions to be eliminated.
- 11.3 <u>Notice:</u> Unit members shall be given notice of layoff by personal service or registered mail at least sixty (60) calendar days prior to the effective date of the layoff, and shall be informed of their rights under this Article and applicable law. The notice of layoff provided herein shall include, but shall not be limited to, a copy of this Article, relevant Board Policy pertinent to layoff and reemployment, and applicable statutes. Copies of said notices shall be sent to the Association. The Association shall also be given a current seniority list of all bargaining unit members.
- 11.4 <u>Order of Layoff:</u> Any layoff shall be effected within a class. The order of layoff shall be based seniority by hire date with the District.
- 11.5 <u>Bumping Rights:</u> Bumping rights of Bargaining Unit Members shall apply after determination of seniority in a class. Bargaining Unit Members who are subject to layoff shall exercise bumping rights into any classification within a current or previously held class, providing they meet minimum qualifications and providing that the classification in which they are bumping is equal or lower than that classification in which the employee is serving.
- 11.6 <u>Equal Seniority:</u> In the case of two or more Bargaining Unit Members having the same length of service, the order of layoff of such employees shall be determined by lot.
- 11.7 <u>Reemployment Rights:</u> Bargaining Unit Members who have been laid off are eligible for reemployment in the classification from which laid off for a thirty-nine (39) month period and shall be reemployed in the reverse order of layoff. In addition, any Bargaining Unit Member who has bumped into a lower classification and/or has taken voluntary reduction in hours in order to avoid layoff shall have the same reemployment rights; however, it shall be for a period of sixty-three (63) months.
- 11.8 <u>Notification of Reemployment Opening:</u> Any employee who is laid off and is subsequently eligible for reemployment shall be notified in writing by the District of an opening. Such notice shall be sent by certified mail to the last address given the District by the Bargaining Unit Member, and a copy shall be sent to the Association by the District.
- 11.9 <u>Employee Notification to District:</u> A Bargaining Unit Member shall notify the District of his/her intent to accept or refuse reemployment within five (5) working days following receipt of the reemployment notice. If the Bargaining Unit member accepts reemployment, the Bargaining Unit Member must report to work within ten (10) working days following receipt of the notification of reemployment. To maintain his/her eligibility on the reemployment list, in the case of a refusal the Bargaining Unit Member must notify the District within five (5) days from receipt of the reemployment notice.

- 11.10 <u>Reemployment in Highest Class:</u> Bargaining Unit Members shall be reemployed in the highest rated job classification available in accordance with the class seniority. Bargaining Unit Members who accept a position lower than their highest former classification shall retain their original reemployment rights to the higher classification, except that in such cases the Bargaining Unit Member shall have his/her thirty-nine (39) month reemployment right extended to a sixty-three (63) month period from the date the layoff was effective.
- 11.11 <u>Retirement in Lieu of Layoff:</u> Any Bargaining Unit Member eligible for retirement may elect to accept service retirement in lieu of layoff without loss of reemployment rights as provided in this Agreement, provided written notification is given to the District of such election.
- 11.12 <u>Definitions:</u> The following definitions shall apply to this Article:
 - 11.12.1 <u>Class</u>: The term "class" shall be defined as a group of positions (classifications) within a job occupational family which have common characteristics and which are ranked according to a job family.
 - 11.12.2 <u>Classification</u>: The term "classification" shall be defined as a position within a class which has a designated title, specific duties, responsibilities, and minimum qualifications and which has a designated salary range established for each position within a class.
 - 11.12.3 <u>Bumping:</u> The Term "Bump" or "bumping" shall be defined as the Bargaining Unit Member's right to displace an existing Bargaining Unit Member pursuant to the terms of this Article.
 - 11.12.4 <u>Hire Date:</u> The term "hire date" shall be defined as the date in which the Bargaining Unit Member was first employed as a probationary employee in the District.
 - 11.12.5 <u>Seniority:</u> The term "seniority" shall be defined as the hire date of the Bargaining Unit Member.

ARTICLE 12 – EVALUATION PROCEDURES

- 12.1 All Bargaining Unit Members shall be evaluated at least once per year by the immediate supervisor. Evaluations shall be completed and signed by the Bargaining Unit Member and the evaluator at least sixty (60) days prior to the end of the school year. Any evaluation containing "Unsatisfactory" or "Needs to Improve" in any area of the evaluation form shall include a conference and improvement plan within ten (10) days of the employee's receipt of his/her evaluation
- 12.2 Within ten (10) days of the employee's receipt of his/her evaluation, the Bargaining Unit Member has the right to make written comments and/or rebuttal attached to the evaluation.

ARTICLE XIII – DISCIPLINARY PROCEDURES

- 13.1 <u>Progressive Discipline:</u> Nothing herein prevents the use of disciplinary action for causes stated herein in a progressive discipline program. Said program should consist of verbal warning, written warning, written reprimand, and suspension, and/or termination. Any documentation of employee performance related to this disciplinary program may be, if corrective action has not been taken by the employee, placed in the employee's personnel file after providing the employee with copies and notice of an opportunity to attach his/her own statement. District shall follow the principles of progressive discipline, except in cases where the safety of District employees, students or the public might be in question, or in cases of theft or intentional damage to District property or willful violations of the law.
- 13.2 <u>Disciplinary Procedures:</u> A permanent classified employee may be demoted, suspended or dismissed by the Superintendent or his/her designee only for cause as provided in procedures set forth herein. This policy shall not apply to layoffs for lack of work or funds. The term "discipline," for purposes of this policy, shall mean a suspension without pay, involuntary demotion (except layoff) or termination.
- 13.2.1 The bargaining unit member shall have a Skelly conference which shall be scheduled within ten (10) working days from the date the employee is served the Notice of Proposed Disciplinary action to Permanent Employees and shall afford the employee the right to respond to the charges verbally and/or in writing. The employee is entitled to representation if requested and the District shall provide the employee a written response to either continue/amend/reduce/or dismiss the discipline within ten (10) days following the Skelly conference. In the event the bargaining unit member is not satisfied with the written response provided by the Skelly conference hearing officer the bargaining unit member shall be provided five (5) days to request in writing to move forward with an Evidentiary Hearing.

If an evidentiary hearing is requested the bargaining unit member, with the concurrence of CSEA approval, may elect to have the matter heard by a neutral hearing officer which shall be selected from a mutually agreed upon list of hearing officers selected by the District. In the event the bargaining unit member and CSEA elects to use the services of a hearing officer, the fees and expenses of the hearing officer shall be born by the District.

- 13.3 <u>Exclusion of Probationary Employees:</u> The provisions of this policy shall apply only to permanent employees. Probationary employees are subject to disciplinary action without appeal up to and including termination at the sole discretion of the District.
- 13.4 <u>Grounds for Suspension, Demotion, or Dismissal of Permanent Employees:</u> The grounds for suspension, demotion or dismissal of a permanent employee shall be for just cause. One or more of the following causes shall constitute "just cause" for suspension, demotion, or dismissal of any permanent classified employee:

13.4.1 Incompetence or inefficiency in the performance of the duties of his/her position.

- 13.4.2 Inability to perform assigned duties due to failure to meet or retain job qualifications (including, but not limited to, failure to possess required licenses or failure to pass required tests).
- 13.4.3 Insubordination (including, but not limited to follow a lawful directive).
- 13.4.4 Carelessness or negligence in the performance of duty or in the care or use of District property.
- 13.4.5 Discourteous, offensive, or abusive conduct or language toward other employees, pupils, or the public.
- 13.4.6 Dishonesty
- 13.4.7 Drinking alcoholic beverages on the job or using an illegal controlled substance or reporting for work under the influence of alcohol or an illegal controlled substance.
- 13.4.8 Personal conduct unbecoming an employee of the District.
- 13.4.9 Engaging in political activity during assigned hours of employment.
- 13.4.10 Conviction of any crime involving moral turpitude.
- 13.4.11 Arrest for a sex offense as defined in Education Code Section 44010.
- 13.4.12 Conviction of a narcotics offense as defined in Education Code Section 44011.
- 13.4.13 Absence without leave or repeated tardiness.
- 13.4.14 Abuse of illness leave privileges by exceeding the entitled or accrued sick leave without proper justification.
- 13.4.15 Falsifying any information supplies to the District, including but not limited to, information supplied on application forms, employment records, or any other District records.
- 13.4.16 Persistent violation or refusal to obey safety rules and regulations made applicable to public schools by the governing board or by and appropriate federal, state, or local governmental agency.
- 13.4.17 Offering anything of value or offering any service in exchange for special treatment in connection with the employ.

13.5 <u>Notice of Proposed Disciplinary action to Permanent Employees:</u> Notice to a permanent employee of proposed disciplinary action shall be deemed sufficient when it is delivered in person to the employee or when it is deposited in the U.S. Certified Mail, postage prepaid and addressed to the last known address of the employee.

The notice shall contain the following:

- 13.5.1 A statement of the specific acts and omissions upon which the proposed disciplinary action is based;
- 13.5.2 A statement of the causes(s) for the proposed disciplinary action;
- 13.5.3 If it is claimed that the employee has violated a rule or regulation of the District, a statement of the rule or regulation;
- 13.5.4 A statement of the action proposed to the Board;
- 13.5.5 A statement that the employee has a right to a hearing on such charges if demanded within ten (10) working days after the employee receives notice;
- 13.5.6 A card, or paper, the signing and filing of which with the Board shall constitute a demand for hearing and denial of all charges;
- 13.5.7 Copies of materials, if any, which support the charges and a copy of this policy;
- 13.5.8 A statement that the employee has a right to be represented by an attorney or other representative at the hearing.

13.6 Hearing on Suspension, Demotion or Dismissal of Permanent Employee

- 13.6.1 When a timely request for an evidentiary hearing has been served upon the Board in accordance with Section 13.5, the Board or its designee shall, within ten 10 working days after receiving the request, schedule a hearing within ten 10 working days from the date the request for hearing is received. The employee shall be given at least thirty (30) calendar days written notice of the time and place of the hearing and such hearing shall be closed unless the employee submits a written request for a public hearing. (See 13.6.4)
- 13.6.2 Oral evidence shall be taken only on oath or affirmation. Each party shall have the right to call and examine witnesses; to introduce exhibits; to cross-examine opposing witnesses; to impeach any witness regardless of which party first called him/her to testify; and to rebut the evidence against him. If the accused employee does not testify on his/her own behalf, he may be called and examined as if under cross-examination.

- 13.6.3 Any relevant evidence shall be admitted if it is the sort of evidence on which responsible persons are accustomed to rely in the conduct of serious affairs, regardless of the existence of any common law or statutory rule which might make improper the admission of such evidence over objection in civil actions. Hearsay evidence may be used for the purpose of supplementing and explaining other evidence but shall not be sufficient in standing by itself to support a finding unless it would be admissible over objection in civil actions.
- 13.6.4 The District shall render a written decision from the neutral Hearing Officer within twenty-five (25) calendar days after the hearing, and its determination of the sufficiency of the cause for disciplinary action shall be conclusive.

In the event that a hearing officer is used pursuant to the terms of section 13.6.1, the hearing officer shall render his/her written decision to the governing board within twenty-five (25) calendar days after the hearing, and the hearing officer's determination of the efficiency of the cause for disciplinary action shall be advisory to the Board.

- 13.7 <u>Waiver of hearing on Suspension, Demotion or Dismissal of Permanent Employee:</u> If the employee fails to make a timely request for a hearing, the Board may act upon the charges without a hearing and impose such disciplinary action, if any, as it deems appropriate.
- 13.8 <u>Disciplinary Action Imposed by the Board:</u> In the event a unit member decides to waive their right to an evidentiary hearing and the District finds that sufficient cause exists it may impose disciplinary action proposed by the District Superintendent or his/her designee or it may impose such other disciplinary penalty as it deems appropriate.
- 13.9 <u>Immediate Demotion or Suspension Without Pay or Benefits of Permanent Employee:</u> Notwithstanding the requirements of Section 13.5 above, if the Superintendent, or his/her designee in his/her absence determines that pending a Board hearing on the suspension or dismissal of a permanent employee, the continued presence of such employee is detrimental to the District or the employees of the District, the District may immediately suspend the employee without pay in accordance with applicable law utilizing the following procedures:

13.9.1 The administration shall meet with the employee, advising the employee of the charges and the proposed action and the administration shall give the employee a copy of the written charges and any written materials upon which the charges are based at the time of the conference.

13.10 <u>Compensation for Loss of Salary During Suspension Without Pay:</u> If the employee is suspended immediately pursuant to the procedures set forth in Section 13.9, the employee shall be compensated for any pre-hearing loss of salary resulting from such a suspension not upheld.

ARTICLE 14 - SAFETY

- 14.1 <u>General:</u> The District shall make every reasonable effort to provide a place of employment which is as safe as the nature of the employment and assigned duties reasonably permit.
- 14.2 <u>Cal-OSHA:</u> The District shall make reasonable efforts to comply with the provisions of California State Occupational Safety and Health Act regulations contained within the general industry and, where applicable, construction industry standards.
- 14.3 <u>Rights and Duties of Unit Members:</u> It is the responsibility of all unit members to be alert in observing unsafe conditions, and to report unremedied conditions in writing on the appropriate District form to their immediate supervisor and/or site administrator.
 - 14.3.1 If no response or corrective action is taken by the supervisor and/or site administrator within ten (10) working days after the unsafe condition is reported, the unit member may file a written complaint directly with the District Safety Officer. If not satisfied with the response of the District Safety Officer, the unit member may request to be placed on the agenda of the next District Safety Committee meeting to present the safety complaint. The Safety Committee shall consist of the District Safety Officer, one District Designee, and one association designee. The decision of the District Safety Committee shall be final.
 - 14.3.2 The ten (10) working days set forth above may be waived in the event of an emergency in which the unit member is in imminent danger of bodily harm.
 - 14.3.3 In such an emergency, the unit member may refuse to perform a duty considered to be placing the unit member in imminent danger of serious injury until there is a determination by the District Safety Officer in consultation with the Chapter President.
- 14.4 <u>Violations:</u> Violations of this Article shall not be subject to the grievance procedures set forth in this Agreement, except where no other administrative remedy exists.

- 14.5 Trainings: Any training such as first aid, CPR, and special procedures training that is required by the District shall be provided at the District's expense including per diem for meals per Board Policy and mileage at current IRS rate. A minimum of one to three days within the first four weeks of employment the District shall provide onboarding training for new hires and unit members who have changed classifications through transfers or promotions based on position needs. This training shall start with their first day if practical or possible to assure that the individuals placed in these positions are provided immediate uninterrupted guidance, when possible, on what is expected of them and what resources and standard operating procedures are available to them before they start performing their duties. The District will maintain a log of new hires, transfers and promotions within the first 6 (six) months of employment of their position; onboarding training(s) and that log will be accessible to CSEA. Additional training may be provided when request by the supervisor or employee if needed. Bargaining unit members who attend trainings held on a non-workday may attend on a voluntary basis, and will be paid at their normal rate of pay or overtime rate (when applicable). Bargaining Unit Members may also have the option to choose and attend CSEA sponsored trainings as long as there is prior approval of the District.
 - 14.5.1 Trainings: All bargaining unit members shall receive at least one (1) training session on or near the beginning of each school year pertaining to, but not limited to the following areas:
 - CPR/First Aide
 - Sexual Harassment
 - Bloodborne Pathogens
 - Workplace safety or Injury prevention
 - Job Specific Training
 - Any other trainings the District deems necessary

ARTICLE 15 - SAVINGS

- 15.1 <u>Savings Clause:</u> If any provision in this Agreement is rendered invalid due to mandated changes in law, rules and regulations or by orders of a court of competent jurisdiction, such provisions will not be deemed valid and subsisting except to the extent permitted by law, but all other provisions will continue in full force and effect.
- 15.2 <u>Meet and Negotiate Replacement:</u> In the event invalidation of any article or Section of this Agreement, the parties agree to meet and negotiate within thirty (30) days for the sole purpose of arriving at a mutually satisfactory replacement for such article or section.

ARTICLE 16 - EFFECT OF AGREEMENT

16.1 <u>Effect of Agreement:</u> It is understood and agreed that the specific provisions contained in this Agreement shall prevail over District practices and procedures, and state law, to the extent authorized by law.

16.2 <u>Contract Waivers:</u> Specific provisions of this Agreement may be waived by written agreement of the Association and the District. Contract waivers shall not be deemed as a precedent, and shall not, under any circumstances, be used as basis for extending the same consideration to other unit members

ARTICLE 17 - TERM OF AGREEMENT

17.1 <u>Term of Agreement:</u> The term of the agreement shall be three (3) years commencing July 1, 2020 and continuing through June 30, 2023, The parties agree that for 2021-2022 and 2022-2023 any two articles may be reopened by either party.

Successor Contract Negotiated: June 30, 2020 Board of Trustee's Approval: July 22, 2020

Tentative Agreement: July 18, 2022 Board of Trustee's Approval: July 20, 2022 Updated: July 28, 2022

Position	Hours	DO	HES	HSS	ICA
Accounts Payable Clerk	4	1			
Accounts Payable Clerk	8	1			
DO Assistant Secretary/Sub Coordinator	8	1			
Maintenance Technician	8	1			
MOT Tech	8				1
MOT Tech	6	1			
Maintenance/ Groundskeeper	8	1			
Maintenance/ Groundskeeper	6	.75			.25
Secretary	8		1	1	1
Assistant Secretary	2		1	1	
Clerk I	6		1		
Clerk I	5			1	
Cafeteria Worker I	5		1		
Cafeteria Worker I	3.5			1	
Cafeteria Worker II	2	5	1	1	
Food Driver	2			1	
Campus Monitor	4.83			1	
Campus Monitor	4.75			1	
Campus Monitor	3.92			1	
Campus Monitor	3.5			1	
Campus Monitor	3		2		
Campus Monitor/ Crossing Guard	4.5		2		
Crossing Guard	2		1		
Custodian	8		1	1	
Custodian	6		2		
Custodian	5			1	

Custodian	3.92	1			
Instructional Aide I	6		4		
Instructional Aide I -TK	5		2		
Instructional Aide I -ELO	3.92		3		
Instructional Aide II	6		3	3	
Bilingual Aide	3.92			1	
Bilingual Aide	5		3		
Activities Driver	Varies			2	

HELENDALE SCHOOL DISTRICT

CLASSIFIED SALARY SCHEDULE 2022-23 Updated Sub Rates Effective 01/01/2022

										Longevity:			
SUB	RANGE	STEP I	STEP 2	STEP 3	STEP 4	STEP 5	STEP 6	STEP 7	STEP 8	10 to 14	15 to 19	20 to 24	25
15.00	1	17.21	17.90	18.62	19.36	20.13	20.94	21.78	22.65	23.56	23.78	24.24	24.92
15.00	2	17.49	18.19	18.92	19.68	20.47	21.29	22.14	23.03	23.95	24.18	24.64	25.33
15.05	3	17.82	18.53	19.27	20.04	20.84	21.67	22.54	23.44	24.38	24.61	25.08	25.78
15.28	4	18.10	18.82	19.57	20.35	21.16	22.01	22.89	23.81	24.76	25.00	25.48	26.19
15.55	5	18.41	19.15	19.92	20.72	21.55	22.41	23.31	24.24	25.21	25.45	25.94	26.66
15.83	6	18.74	19.49	20.27	21.08	21.92	22.80	23.71	24.66	25.65	25.89	26.39	27.13
16.11	7	19.07	19.83	20.62	21.44	22.30	23.19	24.12	25.08	26.08	26.33	26.84	27.59
16.36	8	19.38	20.16	20.97	21.81	22.68	23.59	24.53	25.51	26.53	26.79	27.30	28.06
16.66	9	19.73	20.52	21.34	22.19	23.08	24.00	24.96	25.96	27.00	27.26	27.78	28.56
16.92	10	20.04	20.84	21.67	22.54	23.44	24.38	25.36	26.37	27.42	27.69	28.22	29.01
17.24	11	20.42	21.24	22.09	22.97	23.89	24.85	25.84	26.87	27.94	28.21	28.75	29.56
17.53	12	20.76	21.59	22.45	23.35	24.28	25.25	26.26	27.31	28.40	28.68	29.22	30.04
17.84	13	21.12	21.96	22.84	23.75	24.70	25.69	26.72	27.79	28.90	29.18	29.74	30.57
18.16	14	21.50	22.36	23.25	24.18	25.15	26.16	27.21	28.30	29.43	29.72	30.28	31.13
18.49	15	21.89	22.77	23.68	24.63	25.62	26.64	27.71	28.82	29.97	30.26	30.84	31.70
18.80	16	22.25	23.14	24.07	25.03	26.03	27.07	28.15	29.28	30.45	30.74	31.33	32.21
19.14	17	22.65	23.56	24.50	25.48	26.50	27.56	28.66	29.81	31.00	31.30	31.90	32.79
19.47	18	23.05	23.97	24.93	25.93	26.97	28.05	29.17	30.34	31.55	31.86	32.46	33.37
20.30	19	24.02	24.98	25.98	27.02	28.10	29.22	30.39	31.61	32.87	33.19	33.82	34.77
	RANGE										Longevity	0/0	V60 4
	1	Campus Mor	nitor Crossing	Guard							Longevity	4	year 10 thru 14
	2	Clerk I											
	2 4												
	7		Cafeteria Worker I, Food Service Driver, Activity Driver720 thru 24Instructional Aide I1025										
	8		Instructional Aide I Instructional Aide II										
	8	Bilingual Aide, Library Aide											
	9	Asst Secretary, DO Asst Secretary/Sub Coordinator, Cafeteria II											
	12	Custodian I											
	12	Accounting Clerk I											
	13	Lead Custodian, Maintenance/Groundskeeper, MOT Technician											
	16	Cafeteria Manager/Worker, ELO-P Coordinator											
	10		inger/ worker	,	i annai () i								

18 School Secretary

Holiday	Date
Independence day	Monday, July 4, 2022
Labor Day	Monday, September 5, 2022
Veterans Day	Friday, November 11, 2022
Thanksgiving	Thursday, November 24, 2022 and Friday,
	November 25, 2022
Christmas Eve	Friday, December 23, 2022
Christmas Day	Monday, December 26, 2022
New Year's Eve	Friday, December 30, 2022
New Year's Day	Monday, January 3, 2023
Martin Luther King Jr's	Monday, January 16, 2023
Birthday	
Lincolns Birthday	Monday, February 13, 2023
Washington's Birthday	Monday, February 20, 2023
Memorial Day	Monday, May 29, 2023
Juneteenth	Monday, June 19, 2023

Appendix C:Classified Employee Holidays 2022-2023

Appendix D

Classified Dress Code

Dress Code Policy:

Dress code can be adjusted based on site activity (e.g. spirit days, field trips and special school day activities). At all times, employees are expected to dress in a professional manner appropriate for a school setting and their particular position.

Unacceptable:

Low-cut tops or dresses Midriff-baring clothing Bleached (splatters or spotted), ripped or torn denim Overalls (jeans) **Sweatpants** Clothing with offensive words, slogans or pictures Beach footwear See through or mesh clothing Mini skirts Short Shorts Leggings, tights, exercise wear (unless worn under a long shirt or dress covering front and back area) Halter tops Tops with spaghetti straps (straps less than 1.5 inches wide) Slippers Unsafe body piercings Visible tattoos that display offensive words, slogans or pictures

APPENDIX E

GLOSSARY

Day(s) - A day shall be defined as a day when the District Office is open for normal business purposes unless it is clearly defined within the CBA.

Demotion – A reduction in classification and pay normally the result of a disciplinary action, taken in lieu of layoff or can be initiated by the employee voluntarily.

Dismissal – The act of removing someone from employment; discharge.

Neutral Investigator - An independent third party with requisite workplace investigation experience.

Binding – An agreement involving an obligation that cannot be broken.

Board – Helendale School District School Board members that are in quorum for normal business

Hearing Officer - An independent third party who presides over grievance and disciplinary hearings.